1988

John E. Arrington and Mary E. Arrington v. Robert Mitchell and Karen Iversen : Brief of Plaintiff - Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from an Order of Partial Summary Judgment from the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County. Jurisdiction of this court is pursuant to Article 8 Section 9, Constitution of Utah, Section 78-2-2 (i), Utah Code Annotated (1953) and Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

The case of Pate ~~-vs-~~ Marathon Steel Co., 692 P.2d 765 (1984) defines the circumstances when a judgment which is not final may be appealed, as provided in Rule 54(b). On page 767 the Utah Supreme Court states:

"First, there must be multiple claims of relief or multiples parties to the action. Second, the judgment appeal from must have been entered on an order that would be appealable but for the fact that other claims or parties remain in the action. Third, the trial court in its discretion must make a determination that there is no just reason for delay of the appeal."

In the above action there are multiple parties and multiple claims. The cause of action has arisen out of claims made prior to October 1, 1986 and claims made subsequent to October 1, 1986. The Partial Summary Judgment appealed would be appealable but for the fact that other claims occurred after October 1, 1986 and remain in the action. Finally on December 14, 1987 the Honorable Scott Daniels signed an order stating that there is no just reason for delay of the appeal of the Partial Summary Judgment because the vast majority of damages occurred before October 1, 1986. Therefore the Supreme Court of Utah obtained jurisdiction under the direction of Rule 54(b).

Following an appeal to the Supreme Court, the Supreme Court issued an order on January 15, 1988 directing the Court of Appeals to rule on the case.

STATEMENT SHOWING NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This appeal is from a Partial Summary Judgment in the Third Judicial District Court wherein Judge Daniels ordered that the Defendants-Respondents are granted "partial summary judgment, no cause of action, with respect to any and all claims of the Plaintiffs against the Defendants which arose prior to October 1, 1986, such claims being barred by the doctrine of res judicata as a result of entry of the Small Claims Judgment identified above". Plaintiffs-Appellants appeal from the Partial Summary Judgment under the theory that the Small Claims Court had no jurisdiction or authority to rule on any matters except the issue of lease payments that was pleaded by the Plaintiffs-Appellants in Small Claims Court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the District Court erred by granting a Partial Summary Judgment to Defendant-Respondents with respect to any and all claims of the Plaintiffs-Appellants against Defendants-Respondents which arose prior to October 1, 1986. The judgment was based on the doctrine of res judicata which Defendants-Respondents alleged occurred when the Small Claims Court entered a Judgment which included the following language:

"No Sept. obligation owed because of the Plaintiffs failure to take steps to reasonably mitigate damages. No further rent owing."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal taken from the Partial Summary Judgment of the District Court that found that the Defendants-Respondents were entitled a judgment against Plaintiffs-Appellants and that all claims of the Plaintiffs-Appellants prior to October 1, 1986, were barred by the doctrine of res judicata as a result of an entry of judgment filed in the Small Claims Court. Plaintiffs-Appellants claim that the Small Claims Court exceeded its jurisdiction in making its ruling and therefore the doctrines of res judicata applies only to the lease payments for the months of July, August and part of September.

On February 11, 1980, Plaintiffs-Appellants and Defendants-Respondents entered into a lease whereby Defendants-Respondents leased from the Plaintiffs-Appellants property located at 11255 East Miller Avenue in Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

On September 10, 1986, Plaintiffs-Appellants filed a Small Claims Affidavit and Order (a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A in the Addendum) in which the Plaintiffs-Appellants claimed that the Defendants-Respondents were indebted to the Plaintiffs-Appellants in the sum of \$1,000 for unpaid lease payments for July (in the amount of \$492.10), August (in the amount of \$492.10) and \$15.80 towards the September payment. Defendants-Respondents did not file a Counterclaim.

On October 21, 1986, a hearing on the above matter was held and a Small Claims Judgment (a copy of which is attached as Exhibit B in the Addendum) against the Defendants-Respondents in favor of the Plaintiffs-Appellants was granted in the amount of \$984.25 principal plus court costs of \$30 for a total judgment of \$1,014.25. However, in addition to granting the judgment the judge also wrote "No Sept.

obligation owed because of Plaintiffs failure to take steps to reasonably mitigate damages. No further rent owing."

On December 18, 1986, Plaintiffs-Appellants filed a complaint in the Third Judicial District Court (a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C in the Addendum). In the complaint the Plaintiffs-Appellants asked for the following:

1. For an amount of \$984.25 for loss of lease payments (this was in addition to the amount granted the Plaintiffs-Appellants in the Small Claims Court).

2. Judgment against the Defendants in the amount of \$834.60 for taxes, \$295.84 for sewer fee, and \$165 for insurance, which the lease required the Defendants-Respondents to pay.

3. An amount of \$22,923.89 plus costs to restore buildings plus an additional \$5,000 for landscaping so that the property could be restored in substantially the same condition it was prior to the Defendants-Respondents entering into the lease.

4. \$25,000 as compensation for mental and physical damages.

5. Attorneys fees and court costs.

Defendants-Respondents filed an Answer and Cross-Claim. Defendants-Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment which was heard on October 25, 1987. The Motion alleged that the Small Claims Judgment resolved all issues concerning the lease prior to October 1, 1986. Judge Scott Daniels granted the Defendants-Respondents Partial Summary Judgment with respect to ending all claims of the Plaintiffs-Appellants which arose prior to October 1, 1986 (a copy of the Partial Summary Judgment is included as Exhibit D in the Addendum). Plaintiffs-Appellants appealed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A Small Claims Court is a court created by statute. As a statutory court it only has power specifically granted to it by the act creating it. The jurisdiction of Small Claims Court is limited to the claims of money only in the amount of up to \$1,000. The Affidavit filed by the Plaintiffs-Appellants was filed correctly and the Small Claims Court had jurisdiction over whether rents were due for the months of July, August and part of September. However, the part of the order of the court stating that no September obligation was owed because of the failure to take steps to reasonably mitigate damages and that no further rent was owing under the lease was a decision that was beyond the jurisdiction of the Small Claims Court and therefore could not involk the doctrine of res judicata at the District Court level. Also the Small Claims Court has no jurisdiction to hear the above matters because the Defendants-Respondents did not file a Counterclaim in Small Claims Court.

The District Court erred in ruling that the doctrine of res judicata applied to all damages which occurred before October 1, 1986. Therefore the Partial Summary Judgment should be set aside and the court should be instructed to try the issues outlined in the complaint and Counterclaim.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT

Small Claim Courts were statutorily created under Section 78-6-1 through 15 of Utah Code Annotated (1953). Section 78-6-1 states:

"(1) There is created in the circuit courts and justice's courts of this state, a department known as the "SMALL CLAIMS COURT," which has jurisdiction, but not exclusive, in cases:

a. for the recovery of money where the amount claimed does not exceed \$1,000 and where the defendant resides or the action of indebtedness ~~was~~ incurred within the jurisdiction of the court in which the action is to be maintained; or

b. involving interpleader under Rule 22 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, in which the amount claimed does not exceed the jurisdiction of the court."

"The Small Claims Court Act (the Act) was established in the legislature to make it possible to dispose of certain actions in an informal manner from their inception to their end with the sole object of dispensing speedy justice between the parties. The small claims court is totally a creature of statute. Its jurisdiction is not exclusive and is limited to the recovery of money up to \$1,000." Faux -vs- Mickelsen at 725 Pacific 2nd 1372, p. 1374. (1986).

In the present case the Plaintiffs-Appellants properly filed their claim for relief in the Small Claims Court because their claim was for money ~~damages~~ and the amount sought was not in excess of \$1,000. Therefore the Small Claims Court obtained juristiction in the case. The Defendants-Respondents did not file a counterclaim. The Small Claims Court then ruled in favor of the Plaintiffs-Appellants in the amount of \$984 plus costs.

Had the Small Claims Court stopped at this point then no error would have been created. However, the court then added the following language to the Small Claim Judgment. "No Sept. obligation owed because of the Plaintiffs failure to take steps to reasonably mitigate damages. No further rent owing."

No transcripts are taken of Small Claims Court proceedings so there is no way to determine how the Small Claims Court reached such the decision cited above. It is the contention of Plaintiffs-Appellants that the Small Claims Court never had jurisdiction over the issues of mitigation of damages and what additional rents were incurred. In Mann -vs- Morrison cited at 144 P.2d 543 (1943), the Utah Supreme Court quotes from page 545, Justice Wolfe's language in the Atwood -vs- Cox case. "Many definitions of jurisdiction are given in 15 C.J. 723 SS 13. They all mean, fundamentally, the power or capacity given by the law to a court, tribunal, board, body, or officer to entertain, hear, and determine certain controversies. * * * It does not mean that the court must speak correctly by the law. What it says may be incorrect. * * * It takes a pleading to invoke the jurisdiction of the court, but, if the pleading shows that the cause or controversy relates to a subject-matter over which the court has jurisdiction, then the jurisdiction of the court is effective for the purpose of proceeding with the cause or controversy." In the same opinion at page 452 of the Utah report, at page 384 of 55 p.2d, it is said: "It would appear that excess of jurisdiction means a case in which the court has initially proceeded properly within its jurisdiction but steps out of the jurisdiction in the making of some order or in the doing of some judicial act."

Jurisdiction is then the power or capacity given by the law to the court to entertain, hear and determine certain controversy's. Because the Small Claims Court is totally a creature of statute, its jurisdiction is not exclusive but is limited to claims for money

only. Kapetanov -vs- Small Claims Court of Ogden, 659 P2d 1049 (1983).

When the Small Claims Court began considering issues such as the responsibility of Plaintiff to mitigate damages under the terms of the lease and further determined that no rent was owing under the lease for any claims prior to October 1, 1986 then it clearly exceeded its jurisdiction because it was deciding issues concerning Real Estate and deciding issues for monetary amounts in excess of \$1,000. Therefore the Small Claims Court had no jurisdiction over these matters.

The reason the Plaintiffs-Appellants limited their claim before the Small Claims Court to the failure to make lease payments for July and August and a portion of September was that that amount owed equalled \$1,000. This was the highest amount of money damages that the court could consider. Additional lease payments were owed but Plaintiffs-Appellants could not proceed with those claims in Small Claims Court without violating the jurisdiction of the court. If the Plaintiffs-Appellants didn't have jurisdiction to plead for additional damages, certainly the Small Claims Court could not involk jurisdiction over monetary amounts in excess of \$1,000.

The second reason that the Small Claims Court exceeded its jurisdiction was that the Defendants-Respondents did not file a Counterclaim before the Small Claims Court. Section 78-6-10 Utah Code Ann.(1953) outlines the Plaintiffs right of appeal in Small Claims Court. "The judgment of said court shall be conclusive upon the Plaintiff unless a counterclaim has been interposed". The case of Lieatke v. Schettler 649 P.2d 80 reviewed the constitutionally of

Section 78-6-10. The court ruled that the limitation of Plaintiff's right to appeal is not in violation of the guarantee in Article I, Section 24 of the Utah Constitution and therefore is enforceable. Defendants-Respondents failure to file a Counterclaim prevents them by statute from having any issue heard except the issue presented by the Plaintiff. In Faux -vs- Mikelson 725 P2d. 1372 (1986) the Utah Supreme Court ruled that a Counterclaim need not be filed by the Defendants in Small Claims Court, but could be filed in Circuit or District Court. They therefore concluded that the failure to file a Counterclaim at the Small Claims Court level and then filing a Counterclaim in a higher court was not prevented by the doctrine of res judicata. By not filing a Counterclaim in Small Claims Court, the Defendants-Respondents elected to have these issues heard by a higher court.

Defendants-Respondents failure to file a Counterclaim in Small Claims Court prevented the court from considering any issues except the money damages pleaded by the Plaintiffs-Appellants. Any claims made by the Defendants-Respondents would have to be tried in District Court when the Defendant-Respondents raised the issues by Counterclaim.