1988

John E. Arrington and Mary E. Arrington v. Robert W. Mitchell and Karen G. Iversen : Brief of Respondent Karen G. Iversen

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court issued an Order dated January 15, 1988, transferring the appeal of this matter to the Court of Appeals. Therefore, jurisdiction is proper.

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

On or about the 10th day of September, 1986, the Plaintiff John E. Arrington, by Affidavit, commenced an action on behalf of the Plaintiffs in the Circuit Court, State of Utah, Salt Lake County, Sandy Department, Small Claims Number 860031055SC. Mr. and Mrs. Arrington made claim against the Defendants Robert W. Mitchell and Karen G. Iversen for unpaid rentals for real property located at 1255 East Miller Avenue, Salt Lake City, Utah, for the months of July, August and a portion of September, 1986. (A copy of Plaintiff's Small Claims Affidavit and Order is included within in the Addendum.)

On or about October 1, 1986, Mr. Dirk Eastman, as Judge Pro-Tempore, entered a Small Claims Judgment against the Defendant Robert W. Mitchell holding him liable in the sum of \$984.25 (representing rentals for the months of July and August, 1986), together with costs. The Small Claims Judgment specifically provided as follows:

"No Sept. obligation owed because of Plaintiff's failure to take steps to reasonable mitigate damages. No further rent owing."

Judgment was not entered against the Defendant Iversen although she was served with process. (A copy of the Small Claim Judgment is included within the Addendum.)

On or about December 18, 1986, Plaintiffs commenced a separate action in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, alleging additional damages arising out of the breach of the lease agreement by Defendants with respect to the real property located at 1255 East Miller Avenue, Salt Lake City, Utah. As set forth in Plaintiffs' First Claim For Relief, Plaintiffs sought a judgment against Defendants for unpaid rentals for the months of September and October, 1986, and attorney's fees as provided in the lease agreement. Plaintiffs, by their Second Claim For Relief sought a judgment for damages resulting from Defendants' alleged failure to pay taxes, utility bills and insurance premiums for periods during the years 1986 and 1987. Plaintiffs' Third Claim For Relief asserted entitlement to a judgment against Defendants for damages resulting from alleged waste committed to the property. Plaintiffs' Fourth Claim For Relief asserted entitlement to rentals for a period necessary to repair damages to the property and Plaintiffs' Fifth Claim for Action asserted damages for severe mental and emotional

anguish resulting from Defendants' alleged failure to perform the lease and for the destruction of the premises.

On the 25th day of August, 1987, the Honorable Scott Daniels heard Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment and ruled that any and all claims of the Plaintiffs against the Defendants which arose prior to October 1, 1986, were "barred by the doctrine of res judicata as a result of the entry of the Small Claims Judgment". (See Order of Partial Summary Judgment in Addendum)

Plaintiffs-Appellants have appealed the order of partial summary judgment.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Is a ruling of a Small Claims Court judgment res judicata upon the parties thereto?

2. Does the doctrine of res judicata bar claims that existed but were not filed at the time of the small claims action because of the limited jurisdiction of the Small Claims Court?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of Case. This is an action commenced by the Plaintiff-Appellants for monetary damages arising out of the lease of real property.

B. Course of Proceedings. On September 10, 1986, Plaintiffs-Appellants filed a Small Claims Affidavit and Order in the Circuit Court, State of Utah, Salt Lake County,

Sandy Department, Small Claims Number 860031055SC seeking a judgment for lease payments for the months of July, August and a portion of September, 1986. On October 1, 1986, a Small Claims Judgment was entered against the Defendant Robert W. Mitchell in the sum of \$984.25 together with costs. The Court also entered a ruling that no September rent was due because of the Plaintiffs' failure to take steps to reasonably mitigate damages and that no further rents were due and owing.

On December 18, 1986, Plaintiffs-Appellants filed a Complaint in the Third Judicial District Court making a claim for unpaid rentals for the months of September and October, 1986, damages for failure to pay taxes, utility bills and insurance premiums for periods during the years 1986 and 1987, damages for waste committed to the property, rentals for the period necessary to repair the property and damages for severe mental and emotional anguish resulting from Defendants' alleged failure to perform the lease and destruction of the premises.

C. Disposition at Trial Court. On October 25, 1987, the District Court granted an Order of Partial Summary Judgment holding that all claims of the Defendants which arose prior to October 1, 1987, were barred by the doctrine of res judicata as a result of the entry of the Small Claims Judgment dated October 1, 1987.

C. Relevant Facts. There are no other facts relevant to the determination of the issues before this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The doctrine of res judicata applies to bar relitigation of issues which were actually litigated or could have been litigated in prior proceedings. The final adjudication of these issues is binding upon all parties and their privies and precludes subsequent adjudication of the same claims. Although the Plaintiffs elected to commence their action in the Small Claims Court, principals of res judicata are still applicable and the rulings of the Small Claims Court are nevertheless binding upon the parties. The election of the Plaintiffs to commence their action in the Small Claims Court constitutes a bar to further claims which could have been litigated had the Plaintiffs elected to choose a different forum.

DETAIL OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

Rulings of Small Claims Courts are res judicata upon parties and their privies with respect to issues before the Court. Penrod v. Nu Creation Creme, Inc., 669 P.2d 873, 875 (Utah 1983). The parties to this action are in agreement that a Small Claims Court is a Court of limited jurisdiction. Utah Code Annotated, Section 78-6-1 (1986). The Small Claims Court has jurisdiction and is permitted to enter

orders for the recovery of money where the amount claimed does not exceed \$1,000.00 and where the Defendant resides within the jurisdiction of the Court. Consequently the judgment in favor of the Plaintiffs and against the Defendant Mitchell as set forth in the Small Claims Judgment dated October 1, 1986, is enforceable.

To apply the doctrine of res judicata, it is appropriate to examine the issues before the Small Claims Court at the time of rendering its decision. The Small Claims Affidavit and Order and the subsequent Small Claims Judgment discloses that the matters at issue were: (i) the Defendants' rental obligations for the months of July, August and September, 1986, (ii) mitigation, and (iii) enforceability of the Lease. The Court adjudicated these claims and ruled that Defendant Mitchell was obligated for a portion of the rentals (July and August) but had no obligation for the month of September because of Plaintiffs' failure to mitigate damages. The Court further ruled that no additional rents were owing. Whether or not mitigation and enforceability of the lease were issues properly before the Court (and Defendant-Respondent believes that they were), such issues were ruled upon, were not appealed, and are now binding upon the parties. Based upon these rulings, additional claims for rentals, arguably even after October 1, 1986, are now barred.

The fact that the decision was rendered by the Small Claims Court has no impact upon the doctrine. It has been held that the doctrine of res judicata extends to judgments of all Courts. Johnson Steel Street Rail Co. v. Warton, 152 U.S. 252, 38 L. Ed. 429, 14 S. CT 608 (1894). The doctrine has specifically been applied to a judgment rendered by a Court of limited jurisdiction. See Domestic and Foreign Petroleum Co. v. Long, 4 Cal 2d. 547, 51 P.2d 73 (1935).

POINT II

The doctrine of res judicata bars not only the re-litigation of claims which were previously adjudicated but also bars claims which should have been adjudicated in the initial proceeding but were not. Penrod v. Nu Creation Creme, Inc., 669 P.2d 873, 875 (Utah 1983); Church v. Meadowsprings Ranch, Inc. 659 P.2d 1045 (Utah 1983); and Peterson v. Peterson 645 P.2d 37 (Utah 1982).

Comparing the Small Claims Affidavit and Order and the Complaint of the Plaintiff it is apparent that a significant number of the claims of the Plaintiffs were in existence at the time of entry of the Small Claims Judgment. Plaintiffs either were aware or should have been aware of these claims and elected to assert only one of several claims which could have been brought. The claim asserted conveniently totals the jurisdictional limits of the Small Claims Court. The Plaintiffs could have selected any number of their claims

but elected to limit their recovery to \$1,000.00. Plaintiffs could also have elected to assert any one of their claims in the Circuit Court or in all of their claims in the District Court, and depending upon their election the amount of their claims could be limited or asserted in full. Plaintiffs' failure to select either the Circuit or District Court however was a voluntary act. Therefore Plaintiff could have asserted additional claims prior to October 1, 1986 had they so elected.


The rule of law that res judicata applies to all claims which should have been adjudicated is also supported by well established principles of law which permit land owners to sue for delinquent rental installments without declaring the default of a lease agreement, but do not permit severing of claims with respect to delinquent rental installments. A landowner is required to assert a claim for all delinquent rentals at the time of commencement of his action. He can not sue for only a portion of delinquencies without waiving them. See Hare v. Winfree, 131 Wash 138, 229 P.16 (1924) and In Re Garment Center Capital, 93 F.2d 667 (2nd Cir. 1938). Plaintiffs attempt to sue for a portion of the September rent and assert the balance of such rent and the remaining claims in the District Court would violate the rule against improper severance of claims. Consequently,

all claims of the Plaintiffs arising prior to October 1, 1986, are barred and Plaintiffs are further bound by the Court's ruling that no further rentals are due and owing.

CONCLUSION

The Small Claims Court Judgment dated October 1, 1986, is fully enforceable and is res judicata between the parties. Because the doctrines of res judicata bars all claims which were adjudicated and all claims which should have been adjudicated in the initial proceedings, all claims of Plaintiffs arising prior to October 1, 1986, are barred. The Small Claims Court's Order that no additional rents are owing would also preclude recovery of any further rents in the District Court action. Judge Daniels' grant of a Order of Partial Summary Judgment was therefore well supported in law and should not be overturned.